RECEIVED

Mar 22 2021

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Appellate Case No. 2020-000631

The Honorable George McFaddin

The State of South Carolina.....Respondent,

v.

Charles Davenport.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Elizabeth Franklin-Best
Elizabeth Franklin-Best, P.C.
2725 Devine Street
Columbia, South Carolina 29205
(803) 331-3421
elizabeth@franklinbestlaw.com

Other Counsel:
Mark Farthing
Assistant Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3372

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the trial court judge abused his discretion by sentencing C.J. Davenport to 25 years, suspended on the service of 20 years, when he failed to meaningfully consider the significant mitigation offered by Davenport in support of a lesser sentence.
- II. Whether South Carolina law regarding sentencing gives adequate notice to a criminal defendant what factors will be considered by the court in imposing a sentence. Within the context of South Carolina's indeterminate sentencing structure, does this result in a denial of due process?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Charles Davenport (C.J.) was indicted by the Richland County grand jury of felony DUI resulting in death, 2018-GS-40-8199. He pleaded guilty to this offense on November 8, 2018 before the Honorable George M. McFaddin. C.J. was represented by Joe McCulloch and Kathy Schillaci. The State was represented by Josh Golson. C.J. was sentenced to 25 years, suspended on the service of 20 years in prison. On November 16, 2018, counsel filed a Motion to Reconsider Sentence. Counsel filed a Supplemental Motion to Reconsider Sentence on December 5, 2018. On April 12, 2020, the court denied the motion.

This appeal timely follows.

ARGUMENTS

- I. **The trial court judge abused his discretion by sentencing C.J. Davenport to 25 years, suspended on the service of 20 years, when he failed to meaningfully consider the significant mitigation offered by Davenport in support of a lesser sentence.**

The facts of this case are tragic and, unfortunately, all too common. C.J. Davenport was grossly intoxicated and speeding in the Rosewood area of Columbia, South Carolina when he hit the victim, David Newell, who was riding on his moped. The victim died. By all accounts, both young men were exceptional human beings.

A number of Newell's roommates from the University of South Carolina told the court during C.J.'s sentencing hearing how much he meant to them. David's cousin explained to the court that David was passionate about the drunk driving laws. David's hometown community suffered a tragedy in 2003 when several young

people were killed in a drunk driving accident. The Happiness Foundation was started by one of David's late friends' wives to address the problem of drinking and driving.¹ ROA 28, 32. David pledged not to drink and drive. He wrote a paper on the subject in school, according to his cousin. ROA 28.

David's two older sisters also attended, and graduated from, the University of South Carolina. Both David's mother and father addressed the court to express their profound grief. David was an organ donor. ROA 49. David and his sister prepared food for the homeless. ROA 53.

C.J. Davenport is also an extraordinary young man. At his sentencing, C.J. expressed his deep remorse for the pain he caused:

I'm imprisoned by this decision in my mind every day. I'm here to accept the responsibility of my actions, and again, tell Mr. Newell's family and his friends and his siblings and his ex-girlfriend that I'm just deeply sorry and so remorseful for my actions.

It is something that I don't know I'll ever be able to cope with knowing that I injured another human being who had such a promising life, and that's—that's been the toughest part for me.

ROA 59, l. 24- 60, l. 7.

¹ The victim and his family are from Maryland. There are a number of area media sources that refer to the Happiness Foundation and the deaths of Magruder High School students, Haeley McGuire, Spencer Datt, and Johnny Hoover. *See* <https://theblackandwhite.net/25019/feature/photo-of-the-day-90/> (last visited 5/22/20); <https://foxbaltimore.com/news/cover-story/the-happiness-foundation-taking-a-pledge-against-drunk-driving> (last visited 5/22/30); We Are Happiness.org at http://wearehappiness.org/?fbclid=IwAR1PZynEx3O8gh4Zzu0gLrilyQNj86qKW_jwrWv1_PbjwBHZPe_P7QLAhCU (last visited 7/22/20)

C.J. was a camp counselor at Camp Cherokee in Blacksburg, South Carolina where he worked with children for many summers. He was a solid soccer player. He was active in his church. His mother informed the court about some of C.J.'s family's challenges—not to excuse C.J.'s behavior—but to explain some of the difficulties he experienced in the time leading up to this horrible accident.

C.J.'s parents divorced in 2015 and his mother had to sell the family's home. As his mother told the court: "Our family fell apart and broke apart in 2015, and C.J. took a lot of responsibility on his shoulders. Unfortunately, I see that now, a lot more than what we should have put on his shoulders." ROA 66.

When C.J. was a sophomore in college at the University of South Carolina, he underwent a number of surgeries. His gall bladder was removed and his liver was nicked. He became septic. His mother told the court he was in and out of the hospital numerous times due to these illnesses. ROA 66. C.J. was in an extraordinary amount of pain. Because of his illness, he had to withdraw from college. ROA 68. C.J.'s mother told the court that they almost lost him on several occasions. ROA 66. They took him to numerous specialists, but nothing seemed to adequately treat C.J.'s pain. ROA. 66-67. She said there were times that she was afraid to leave him, and that C.J. spent many hours crying, not sleeping, and praying. ROA 67.

Also, during this already challenging time, C.J.'s mother was also very ill. C.J. became the caretaker for both her and her father. Eventually, C.J.'s mother made C.J. go back to college, even though he was still struggling with his pain. ROA 68.

She told the court she had not realized how much pressure her son had been under. C.J. started self-medicating with alcohol. ROA 69.

C.J.'s father spoke to the court about C.J.'s work at the camp for years, and that he taught junior varsity soccer. ROA 71.

C.J.'s childhood best friend, Orlantrez Snipes, also addressed the court. ROA 72. Snipes explained that he had been a troubled child, but that C.J. supported him. At one point, Orlantrez contemplated suicide, but C.J. joined him in a closet, crying, and told him that Orlantrez couldn't leave him. ROA 73. Then Orlantrez related this story:

A little while later, I started living with C.J. and them. I don't think C.J. knows this, but I heard C.J. in the room with this parents, and he told his parents that he wanted nothing for Christmas. He wanted me to have a great Christmas. He wanted his parents to give me presents.

ROA 73.

Prior to this tragic event, C.J. did not have any prior criminal record.

The judge then sentenced C.J.:

THE COURT: Like many of you, your thoughts are varied. I'm afflicted with the same situation right now. So I'm going to try to keep it short.

First of all, I read everything that was given to me, everything. I read my notes from those who spoke. Cases like this are so hard to work with. I probably could have figured out a reason to pass it off to another judge for another day. I'm not hired to dodge work . . .

I realize clearly that Mr. Davenport never intended to cause the death of Mr. Newell, and he's not a monster. It's a terrible mistake. But I'm here today working within the confines of the statute.

And while Mr. Davenport didn't choose the outcome of what happened, he did choose to operate a vehicle under the influence of a

high level of alcohol and with THC and add to that the aggravating factor of high-speed driving almost twice the speed limit.

Mr. Davenport has no prior record. He didn't intend for the death to occur, and I think he's sorry, but the aggravating factors are those I just mentioned, consumption of alcohol, use of marijuana, and as the device on the truck indicated, driving about twice the speed limit on the city street.

The sentence of this Court is that Mr. Davenport shall be incarcerated at the Department of Corrections for a period of 25 years suspended to 20 years and with a fine of \$10,100, and that's my sentence.

ROA 81-82.

Trial counsel promptly filed a motion to reconsider the sentence. ROA 86.

Denying the motion, the court indicated:

I did not see this crime as the result of a mere accident where Defendant was slightly intoxicated and pulled in front of another driver, for example. I considered Defendant's blood alcohol level, his THC level, and his driving at 76 miles per hour on a city street in a 35 miles per hour zone at or shortly before the impact....

I considered the ages of the Defendant and the victim, David Newell, along with the facts of this case. Mr. Newell was lawfully on the roadway. Defendant was knowingly engaging in unlawful acts while on the roadway.

I considered the awful pain of the victim's family and the remorse of Defendant and his family.

I read the anecdotal information Defendant provided about sentencing across South Carolina in similar felony death DUI cases. I do not accept the assertion that because other judges have issued shorter sentences in similar cases my sentence is therefore improper or an abuse of discretion . . .

Defendant offered in his motion "GOALS OF SENTENCING AND CHARLES DAVENPORT" wherein Defendant's character and rehabilitative potential are noted. Offered also is information related to the seriousness of the offense, the need to protect society and the need

for deterrence and punishment. However, all of it comes back to the length of the sentence, and I have offered my reasons for the sentence.

ROA 321-323.

The court also noted in its order denying reconsideration that “[t]he statute does not provide a list of aggravating or mitigating factors that a judge shall consider.” ROA 322.

There is no question but that a trial judge has broad discretion in sentencing within statutory limits. *Brooks v. State*, 325 S.C. 269, 271, 481 S.E.2d 712, 713 (1997). A judge must be permitted to consider any and all information that reasonably might bear on the proper sentence for a particular defendant. *State v. Hicks*, 377 S.C. 322, 325, 659 S.E.2d 499, 500 (Ct. App. 2008). A sentence will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion when the ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion without evidentiary support. *In re M.B.H.*, 387 S.C. 323, 326, 692 S.E.2d 541, 542 (2010).

The circuit court judge erred in this case by rendering a sentence that was too punitive under the tragic facts of this case, and in light of the significant mitigation that C.J. offered to the court to justify a lesser sentence.

In a case from the Supreme Court of Indiana, *Cardwell v. State*, 895 N.E.2d 1219 (2008), the Court there found that the trial court’s sentence of 34 years for intentionally burning the hands of a 3 year old child and then delaying medical care was too punitive even though the sentence fell within the statutory guidelines. The Court revised the sentence to 17 years finding the “the thirty-four years imposed by

the trial court is sufficiently out of the range of appropriate results.” *Id.* at 1226. It remanded the case back to the trial court to impose that sentence.

In *Commonwealth v. Dodge*, 957 A.2d 1198 (2008), the Superior Court of Pennsylvania remanded to correct an overly-harsh sentence when the sentencing court took account of the sentencing guidelines and factors enumerated in the statute, that the court had ample opportunity to observe the appellant and had the benefit of a pre-sentence report. The sentencing court also noted that the appellant had been a career criminal despite prior attempts at rehabilitation, and noted its lack of regard for the victims and family members. Still, the court found that the judge’s essentially ensuring a life sentence for the defendant constituted an abuse of discretion under the facts of the case.

The Court of Appeals in Michigan, in *People v. Curry*, 371 N.W.2d 854 (1985) articulated a number of considerations to be taken into account in sentencing an offender:

When sentencing a defendant, the trial court may appropriately conduct an inquiry broad in scope, largely unlimited as to the kind of information considered or the source of such information. Proper criteria for determining an appropriate sentence include: (1) the disciplining of the wrongdoer; (2) the protection of society; (3) the potential for reformation of the offender; and (4) the deterring of others from committing like offenses. Other appropriate considerations are the nature and severity of the crime committed, behavior by the defendant which demonstrates a disrespect for legal processes and a lack of respect for the law, and defendant’s criminal record. The modern view of sentencing is that the sentence should be tailored to the particular circumstances of the case and the offender in an effort to balance both society’s need for protection and its interest in maximizing the offender’s rehabilitative potential.

Id. at 857.

The court, in this case, remanded for resentencing because the trial court judge focused on the defendant's status as an habitual offender and not on the crime itself. The defendant was given a life sentence for stealing, a sentence authorized by statute.

In *Eiler v. State*, 938 N.E.1235 (Ct. App. 2010) the Indiana Court of Appeals revised a sentence for a defendant who pleaded guilty to dealing cocaine, a class A felony, initially sentenced to 22 years, with four years suspended, to 22 years with 10 years suspended. The court found the longer sentence was inappropriate in light of the defendant's age, his minimal criminal history, his ability to maintain a job, his taking responsibility for his actions, that he was the family's main financial provider and that he only sold cocaine to the same people with whom he used and that he did not profit financially from doing so.

Like these other sentences, C.J.'s sentence is disproportionate to his crime, especially in light of the tremendous amount of mitigating evidence that was offered on his behalf. C.J. was a college student with some mental health issues due to his family's situation and his personal health. He is profoundly remorseful and readily accepted responsibility for his actions. C.J. had never been in trouble with the law before. He worked with children at a camp and played sports. By all objective measures, C.J. is a law-abiding young man with a bright future. But one night, this horrible tragedy occurred and C.J.'s was responsible for it. Still, there is no societal value in incarcerating C.J. for the next 20 years of his life. The circuit court judge abused his discretion in imposing this overly punitive sentence, and respectfully C.J. asks this Court to remand for a new sentencing hearing.

II. South Carolina law regarding sentencing does not give adequate notice to a criminal defendant what factors will be considered by the court in imposing a sentence. Within the context of South Carolina’s indeterminate sentencing structure, this results in a denial of due process.

When Charles Davenport entered his guilty plea and prepared to be sentenced before the Honorable George McFaddin on November 8, 2018, he did not have any clear idea of what factors the judge would consider in rendering his sentence; he just understood that his sentence would be somewhere between 1 and 25 years in prison according to *South Carolina Code* §56-5-2945(A)(2). As the judge pointed out in his order denying reconsideration, he was not mandated to consider any particular aggravating or mitigating factors. ROA 322.

Most recently, the South Carolina Supreme Court has outlined how broad this judicial discretion is in *State v. Quinn*, 430 S.C. 115, 843 S.E.2d 355 (2020):

Generally, a sentencing judge has great discretion in the kind of evidence she may use to assist her in determining the punishment to be imposed... Indeed, she is obligated to consider information material to punishment and may “exercise a wide discretion in the sources and types of evidence used to assist [her] in determining the kind and extent of punishment to be imposed within limits fixed by law.

Id. at 125 (internal citations omitted).

South Carolina is one of the few remaining states that has a pure indeterminate sentencing structure, as opposed to a determinate or structured sentencing system. We share this universe with Massachusetts, Connecticut, New Hampshire, Vermont, West Virginia, Kentucky, Georgia, Iowa, Oklahoma, Texas, Nebraska, South Dakota, North Dakota, Montana, Wyoming, Idaho, and Nevada. *See Making Sense of Sentencing: State Systems and Policies. See <https://>*

<https://www.ncsl.org/documents/cj/sentencing.pdf> (*last visited* 5/18/20). What this means in South Carolina is that judges are free to impose sentences within very wide discretionary ranges, and our appellate courts have very rarely reviewed those sentences. Indeed, since 2008, in South Carolina, criminal defendants may not longer appeal their facially valid pleas, even though 97% of federal convictions and 94% of state convictions are the result of guilty pleas. *See Missouri v. Frye*, 566 U.S. 134 (2012) (citing Dept. of Justice, Bureau of Justice Statistics, Sourcebook of Criminal Justice Statistics Online, Table 5.22.2009, <http://www.albany.edu/sourcebook/pdf/t5222009.pdf>).

The consequence of this is that there is virtually no appellate oversight of criminal sentences that are being imposed in South Carolina's courts of general sessions. Without appellate review, there are no opinions providing guidance to the judges in this state about factors to consider in sentencing, nor are there instructive cases for practitioners to review to provide meaningful guidance to criminal defendants as to the likelihood of a particular range of sentences given facts present in their cases. Instead, as every state practitioner knows, it is often a crap-shoot what a particular sentence a defendant will receive, and practitioners continue to play the "judge lottery" by trying to plead their clients' cases before judges deemed to be "more favorable" for their clients. The current situation in our courts of general sessions is deeply unfair to criminal defendants and reflects the former situation in the federal criminal justice system.

In *Mistretta v. United States*, 488 U.S. 361 (1989), the United States Supreme Court details some of the conditions that existed prior to the enactment of the Federal Sentencing Guidelines. It notes, from its analysis of the Senate Report on the 1984 legislation, S. Rep. No. 98-225 (1983), U. S. Code Cong. & Admin. News 1984, the observation that the previous indeterminate sentencing structure, then used by the federal courts, had two “unjustifie[ed] and “shameful” consequences. *Id.* at 38, 65. “The first was the great variation among sentences imposed by different judges upon similarly situated offenders. The second was the uncertainty as to the time the offender would spend in prison. Each was a serious impediment to an evenhanded and effective operation of the criminal justice system. *Mistretta* at 652. *See Apprendi v. New Jersey*, 530 U.S. 466, 549-550 (2000) (J. O’Connor, Kennedy, and Breyer dissenting) (“Studies of indeterminate-sentencing schemes found that similarly situated defendants often received widely disparate sentences” and noting that the data shows that in those jurisdictions where the sentencing structure is more indeterminate, judicially imposed sentences tend to be longer); *Koon v. United States*, 518 U.S. 81, 113 (1996) (noting the need “to reduce unjustified disparities” in criminal sentencing “and so reach toward the evenhandedness and neutrality that are the distinguishing marks of any principled system of justice”); *Exxon Shipping Co. v. Baker*, 554 U.S. 471, 505 (2008) (“The importance of this for us is that in the old federal sentencing system of general standards the cohort of even the most seasoned judicial penalty-givers defied consistency). Plea counsel, in this case, attempted to

convince the judge that C.J.'s sentence was longer than those of similarly situated individuals, but the judge was unmoved. ROA 321- 324.

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