RECEIVED

Mar 22 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Richland County
Honorable George M. McFaddin, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2020-000631

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

CHARLES DAVENPORT, JR.,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

BYRON E. GIPSON
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 192
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 576-1800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Reina-Rodriguez v. United States, 655 F.3d 1182, 1193 (9th Cir. 2011) (“Appellate courts are not sentencing courts.”). And, while Appellant may have preferred the plea judge focus exclusively on Appellant’s purported potential for rehabilitation or past positive actions, the plea judge was *not* required to do so and, instead, was fully permitted to consider other penological goals, such as deterrence or incapacitation, when deciding upon an appropriate punishment for Appellant’s offense.⁷ See Jones, 463 U.S. at 369 (“The State may punish a person convicted of a crime even if satisfied that he is unlikely to commit further crimes.”); Pennsylvania ex rel. Sullivan v. Ashe, 302 U.S. 51, 55 (1937) (“[A state] may inflict a deserved penalty merely to vindicate the law or to deter or to reform the offender or for all of these purposes.”); State v. Fletcher, 322 S.C. 256, 260, 471 S.E.2d 702, 704 (Ct. App. 1996) (recognizing “punishment of the offender” is a proper motivation for a sentencing judge).

Critically, as demonstrated by the plea judge’s thorough explanation for his sentence, the plea judge carried out his difficult sentencing task by carefully evaluating *everything* presented to him, and the sentence he elected to impose after doing so fell within the appropriate sentencing limits for Appellant’s crime. Cf. State v. Harrison, 402 S.C. 288, 303, 741 S.E.2d 727, 735 (2013) (“The trial court’s statements at sentencing are the very embodiment of

⁷ Demonstrating the significant need for deterrence in DUI cases, Appellant candidly acknowledges on appeal his deadly offense was one that is “all too common.” (App. Br. p. 2). Likewise, at least one extensive DUI-focused study has recognized the potential value of imposing sentences on first-time DUI offenders that are sufficiently severe to discourage recidivism, which is a particularly rampant problem in the context of DUI offenses. See William J. Rauch et al., Risk of Alcohol-Impaired Driving Recidivism Among First Offenders and Multiple Offenders, 100 Am. J. Pub. Health 919, 921-922 (2010) (concluding from a study of more than *one-hundred million* driving records collected over a three-decade span of time “the rate of a subsequent [DUI] violation was increased 615% by the first violation,” indicating the study’s findings “call into question” the soundness of lenient sanctions being imposed upon first-time DUI offenders, explaining its findings “demonstrate the significance of any first arrest in terms of risk of recidivism,” and noting surveyed offenders overwhelmingly reported “they would have been less likely to recidivate if their sanctions for a first offense had been more severe”).

proportionality, and the court performed the analysis envisioned by the statute’s broad penalty provision and in sentencing [Harrison] based on the facts and circumstances of the case.”); Clark v. State, 259 S.C. 378, 382-383, 192 S.E.2d 209, 210-211 (1972) (“Appellant seeks to have his sentence set aside and be resentenced to a lesser term. His contentions in this respect require little comment. It has long been settled that this Court has no jurisdiction on appeal to correct an allegedly excessive sentence, which is within the limits prescribed by law for the discretion of the trial judge and which is not proved to be the result of partiality, prejudice, oppression or corrupt motive. We deem it unnecessary to cite or refer to the many authorities for this well settled proposition. The record here contains no suggestion, let alone evidence, of any partiality, prejudice, oppression or corrupt motive influencing or affecting the sentence.”). Beyond that, as reflected by the strikingly-similar sentence imposed in White for the exact same offense, the sentence imposed upon Appellant was *not* disproportionate—grossly or otherwise—to the seriousness of his highly-dangerous and reckless offense, which was one that resulted in irreparable harm in the form of the death of an innocent victim through extreme actions that were both totally unjustifiable and completely avoidable.⁸ See Brooks v. State, 325 S.C. 269, 272, 481 S.E.2d 712, 713 (1997) (“A sentence is not excessive if it is within statutory limitations and there are no facts supporting an allegation of prejudice against a defendant.”); see also Missouri v. McNeely, 569 U.S. 141, 160 (2013) (explaining drunk driving is a problem that “continues to exact a terrible toll on our society”); Michigan Dep’t of State Police v. Sitz, 496 U.S. 444, 451 (1990) (“No one can seriously dispute the magnitude of the drunken driving problem or the

⁸ Notably, unless a sentence imposed is *grossly* disproportionate to the offense committed, it is unnecessary for purposes of a proportionality analysis to compare that sentence to the sentences imposed on other offenders convicted of similar crimes. Harrison, 402 S.C. at 299-300, 741 S.E.2d at 733; see also State v. Jones, 344 S.C. 48, 56, 543 S.E.2d 541, 545 (2001) (“The cruel and unusual punishment clause requires the duration of a sentence not be *grossly* out of proportion with the severity of the crime.” (emphasis added)).

States' interest in eradicating it."); South Dakota v. Neville, 459 U.S. 553, 558 (1983) ("The situation underlying this case—that of the drunk driver—occurs with tragic frequency on our Nation's highways. The carnage caused by drunk drivers is well documented[.]"); Breithaupt v. Abram, 352 U.S. 432, 439 (1957) ("The increasing slaughter on our highways, most of which should be avoidable, now reaches the astounding figures only heard of on the battlefield."). As a result, the fact Appellant may have personally wished the plea judge evaluated the pertinent sentencing factors differently and in a way that resulted in a sentence more to his liking does not in any way support a conclusion the plea judge abused his discretion or otherwise erred by imposing the sentence he imposed. See State v. Sanders, 251 S.C. 431, 444, 163 S.E.2d 220, 228 (1968) (instructing the "established rule" in South Carolina is an appellate court will not reverse a sentence for being "excessive" if it falls within the statutory sentencing limits and was not imposed as the result of partiality, prejudice, oppression, or corrupt motive); cf. People v. Cruz, 141 N.E.3d 1119, 1131 (Ill. App. Ct. 2019) ("[A]ll of the factors cited by [Cruz] on appeal were presented to the trial court and are presumed to have been considered appropriately. . . . [Cruz]'s argument is actually that the court did not weigh his potential for rehabilitation heavily enough. We decline to substitute our own judgment on the weight of such factors for that of the trial court. The trial court was not required to assign more weight to [Cruz]'s rehabilitative potential than to the seriousness of the offense, which is the most important sentencing factor." (citations omitted)); State v. Helms, 40 P.3d 626, 630 (Utah 2002) ("[T]he fact that Helms views his situation differently than did the trial court does not prove that the trial court neglected to consider the [sentencing] factors listed in [a specific Utah statutory provision].").

Accordingly, since Appellant's sentence fell within the appropriate statutory sentencing limits for his grievous offense and nothing suggested it was imposed based on partiality,

prejudice, oppression, corrupt motive, or any other improper considerations, the plea judge—just like the sentencing judge in White—did not abuse his broad discretion or commit any other error of law when imposing a legislatively-sanctioned sentence for felony DUI resulting in a death, and there is no proper basis upon which to disturb Appellant’s sentence on appeal. See State v. Smith, 276 S.C. 494, 498, 280 S.E.2d 200, 202 (1981) (“[T]he authority to change a sentence rests solely and exclusively in the hands of the sentencing judge within the exercise of his discretion.”); State v. Johnson, 159 S.C. 165, 170, 156 S.E. 353, 354 (1930) (“This Court has no jurisdiction on appeal to correct a sentence alleged to be excessive, when it is within the limits prescribed by law. The length of the prison sentence rests in the sound discretion of the trial Court unless partiality, prejudice, oppression, or corrupt motive is shown.”). Appellant’s conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

II.

To the extent Appellant appears to be asserting the manner in which he was sentenced violated his due process rights, that particular constitutional claim was not properly preserved for appellate review because it was neither raised to nor ruled upon by the plea judge. Furthermore, even if that constitutional claim could somehow appropriately be raised and considered for the first time on appeal, Appellant's due process rights were not violated by the manner in which he was sentenced because he was fully on notice of the applicable sentencing limits for his offense before he pled guilty and was sentenced to a term of imprisonment falling squarely within those limits.

For the first time on appeal, Appellant appears to be challenging his sentence on due process grounds. As support for that constitutional challenge, Appellant maintains South Carolina's sentencing laws allegedly do not provide adequate notice to defendants in regard to what sentencing factors will be considered and, based on that, seems to be suggesting his due process rights were violated by the manner in which he was sentenced. Importantly though, Appellant neither raised any due process arguments to the plea judge nor asserted he had not received adequate notice as to sentencing, and the plea judge obviously did not rule on those arguments since they were never raised. As a result, Appellant's new constitutional claim was not properly preserved for appellate review and, thus, cannot appropriately be considered or addressed for the first time on appeal. However, even if Appellant's due process challenge could somehow properly be entertained for the first time on appeal, Appellant had all the notice to which he was entitled based on the notice he received prior to sentencing regarding the applicable sentencing range for his offense. Therefore, Appellant's due process rights were not violated by the manner in which he was sentenced. Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

A. Appellant's Failure to Properly Preserve Any Due Process Issues for Appellate Review

In South Carolina, issue preservation requirements are a fundamental component of appellate procedure. Gaddy v. Douglass, 359 S.C. 329, 350, 597 S.E.2d 12, 23 (Ct. App. 2004).

The key purpose of those requirements is “to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide [the appellate court] with a platform for meaningful appellate review.” Queen’s Grant II Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Greenwood Dev. Corp., 368 S.C. 342, 373, 628 S.E.2d 902, 919 (Ct. App. 2006). Through their enforcement and application, the trial court is guaranteed a chance “to rule properly after it considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments[,]” and the appellate court is provided with everything needed to properly review whatever ruling is made within the limits of the applicable standard of review. I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000); see State v. Stone, 376 S.C. 32, 36, 655 S.E.2d 487, 488-489 (2007) (“If a pitch was never thrown at trial, we cannot review whether the trial court made the proper call.”); Queen’s Grant, 368 S.C. at 373, 628 S.E.2d at 919 (“The rationale for the [error preservation] rule is that until the trial court considers the matter and makes a ruling, an appellate court is unable to find error.”).

For an issue to be preserved for appellate review pursuant to our issue preservation requirements, the issue must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity. State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-913 (Ct. App. 2004); see also Jean Hoefer Toal et al., Appellate Practice in South Carolina 185 (3rd ed. 2016) (identifying the four requirements that must be met in order for an issue to be properly preserved for appellate review). Thus, based on those requirements, an issue—including a constitutional one—cannot ordinarily be raised or considered on appeal unless it was first presented to and ruled upon by the trial judge. State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 135, 620 S.E.2d 737, 742 (2005); see State v. Patterson, 324 S.C. 5, 19, 482 S.E.2d 760, 767 (1997) (“Appellant is limited to the grounds raised at trial.”); State v. Gee, 262 S.C. 373, 379, 204 S.E.2d 727, 729 (1974)

(“Only matter that has been ruled on below can be reviewed[.]”); In re Care and Treatment of Corley, 365 S.C. 252, 258, 616 S.E.2d 441, 444 (Ct. App. 2005) (“Constitutional issues, like most others, must be raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved for appeal.”).

In the case at bar, Appellant—in addition to alleging the plea judge abused his discretion by sentencing him to a term of imprisonment falling squarely within the statutory limits for his crime—contends South Carolina’s sentencing laws categorically result in a denial of due process because the broad sentencing discretion afforded to sentencing judges in our state purportedly does not give adequate notice to a defendant as to what factors will be considered during the sentencing process. Beyond that, Appellant maintains principles of fundamental fairness demand “a criminal defendant should be allowed to plead guilty and be sentenced by a judge who is committed to meaningfully assessing all of the mitigation evidence he has marshalled on his behalf.” Furthermore, Appellant goes on to chastise this Court for somehow “abdicat[ing] its duty” to ensure “fairness in the system” by “not requiring judges to put their sentencing reasoning on the record to facilitate meaningful appellate review” of sentences. Appellant then urges this Court to remand his case for resentencing while providing advisory guidance to the plea judge “as to what mitigating and aggravating factors the court should use to guide his discretion” when imposing a sentence.

Critically though, during the circuit court proceedings in Appellant’s case, defense counsel did not: (1) argue Appellant did not have constitutionally-sufficient notice as to what factors would be considered during sentencing; (2) allege the broad discretion afforded to sentencing judges in South Carolina was violative of due process in some manner; (3) contend the plea judge failed to identify—adequately or otherwise—the reasons upon which he based his sentencing decision in Appellant’s case; (4) ask the plea judge to provide a fuller explanation of

why he imposed the sentence he imposed; or (5) even mention due process *at all*. See Patterson, 324 S.C. at 19, 482 S.E.2d at 767 (instructing an appellant is limited on appeal solely to the grounds raised at trial). Thus, *none* of the arguments currently being raised on appeal in support of Appellant’s apparent due process challenge to his sentence were actually raised to or ruled upon by the plea judge.⁹ See In re Walter M., 386 S.C. 387, 392, 688 S.E.2d 133, 136 (Ct. App. 2009) (“Generally, an issue must be both raised to and ruled upon by the trial court in order to be preserved for appellate review.”); cf. State v. Baker, 390 S.C. 56, 65, 700 S.E.2d 440, 444 (Ct. App. 2010) (“Baker cannot now add a constitutional claim on appeal because he cannot raise one ground to the trial court and a different ground on appeal.”).

Accordingly, to the extent Appellant is attempting to challenge his sentence on constitutional grounds for the first time on appeal, that challenge must be rejected as it was simply not properly preserved for appellate review pursuant to our well-established issue preservation requirements. See State v. Head, 330 S.C. 79, 87, 498 S.E.2d 389, 393 (Ct. App. 1997) (instructing an appellate court “cannot address unpreserved errors”); cf. State v. Charron, 351 S.C. 319, 328, 569 S.E.2d 388, 393 (Ct. App. 2002) (finding allegations of due process and equal protection violations were not preserved for appellate review when there was no indication those issues were raised to the trial judge). Appellant’s conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

B. Absence of Any Due Process Violations

Pursuant to the United States Constitution and the South Carolina Constitution, no person shall be deprived of life, liberty, or property without due process of law. U.S. Const. amend. V;

⁹ Interestingly, the issue of due process was first referenced in the notice of appeal, which contained a statement indicating a due process argument “may” potentially be raised on appeal. (R. pp. 333-334).

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